
Third United Nations Conference on the Law of the Sea 
 

1973-1982 
Concluded at Montego Bay, Jamaica on 10 December 1982 

 
 

Document:- 
A/CONF.62/SR.80

 
 

80th Plenary meeting 
 

Extract from the Official Records of the Third United Nations Conference on the Law of  
the Sea, Volume VII (Summary Records, Plenary, General Committee, First, Second and Third 

Committees, as well as Documents of the Conference, Sixth Session) 
 

 

 

 

 

Copyright © United Nations 
2009 



80th meeting—1.5 July 1977 11

80th meeting
Friday, 15 July 1977, at 12.30 p.m.

Chairman: Mr. H. S. AMERASINGHE (Sri Lanka).

Organization of work (A/CONF.62/L.21) possible need to extend the current session by one day
in order to make up for the time lost on the previous

1. The PRESIDENT informed the Conference that the day—when the Headquarters building had been closed
General Committee at its 33rd meeting had discussed the because of the power failure—and had recommended that



12 Sixth Session—Plenary Meetings

the session should not be extended. If he heard no objec-
tion, he would take it that the Conference wished to adopt
that recommendation.

It was so decided.

2. The PRESIDENT said that the General Committee
had also discussed the question of the venue for the
seventh session. He wished to outline the various views
and preferences indicated at that meeting.

3. Under the plan for structural alterations at Headquar-
ters, reconstruction work on Conference Rooms 1 and 2
would be carried out from 1 January to 30 June 1978,
and work on the General Assembly hall would be carried
out from 1 January to 4 August 1978. Consequently, only
Conference Rooms 3 and 4 and the Trusteeship Council
chamber would be available for the United Nations Con-
ference on the Law of the Sea. Any decision to defer the
reconstruction work could be taken only by the General
Assembly, and additional costs amounting to some $1.5
million would be incurred by the need to work "round
the clock" in order to complete the work on time. Accord-
ingly, in his own judgement, and in the light of the views
expressed by delegations, although New York would in
many respects be very suitable as the venue for the next
session, it had to be ruled out.

4. There were three other possibilities. First, there would
be no difficulty in holding the session at Geneva during the
winter or spring of 1978. Secondly, with regard to the
Jamaican offer (A/CONF.62/L.21), the representative of
Jamaica had expressed his Government's readiness to
comply with the requirements of General Assembly reso-
lution 31/140 concerning the defrayal of additional costs,
and was prepared to provide the necessary facilities for
the Conference. Some delegations in the General Com-
mittee had expressed reservations concerning the choice
of that venue on the ground of communication difficul-
ties, although the representative of Jamaica had pointed
out that his country had satellite communication facilities.
Thirdly, with regard to the oflfer from Malta, that country
had also agreed to defray any additional costs.

5. Summing up the views of delegations as expressed in
the General Committee, he said that the representative of
Japan, speaking on behalf of the group of Asian States,
had said that the group generally favoured Geneva, al-
though it was in full sympathy with the position of Ja-
maica, as a developing country. The representative of
Turkey, speaking on behalf of the group of Western
European and other States, had said that that group also
favoured Geneva. The representative of the Soviet Union,
speaking on behalf of the group of socialist States, had
expressed that group's preference for Geneva, although it
was willing to consider another venue if the developing
countries or a majority preferred it. The representative
of Egypt, as the spokesman for the group of Arab States
and for the group of Islamic Conference States as a whole,
had said that the two groups strongly preferred Geneva.
In the case of the group of Latin American States, a
majority had preferred the choice of Jamaica. As to the
group of African States, it was not clear whether any dele-
gation had spoken on its behalf; those African delegations
which had spoken had expressed a preference for Jamaica.

6. Mr. GAY AN (Mauritius), speaking as Chairman of
the African group, said that the group did not wish to
adopt a collective position on the subject of the venue
for the seventh session of the Conference.
7. Mr. ENGO (United Republic of Cameroon) pointed
out that it was United Nations practice to give priority

to sovereign States which offered to host conferences.
Accordingly, delegations must first discuss the invitations
received from Jamaica and Malta and should go on to
discuss the remaining possible venues, namely New York
and Geneva, only if those invitations were rejected.

8. Mr. AGUILAR (Venezuela) said that in the past,
when the possibilities had been limited to New York and
Geneva, his delegation had been in favour of holding the
seventh session in Geneva, because of the practical prob-
lems involved in holding it in New York. Geneva was
easily accessible to most delegations and offered all the
facilities required for what would prove to be a vital stage
in the work of the Conference.

9. Now that two developing countries had officially of-
fered to host the seventh session, however, his delegation
was forced to revise its position. While it welcomed the
invitations from both Jamaica and Malta, as Jamaica was
a member of the group of Latin American States and
maintained very close relations with Venezuela his dele-
gation felt bound to favour its invitation. His delegation
was of course anxious that the country which hosted the
seventh session should be able to provide all the necessary
conference facilities, but the representative of Jamaica had
given every assurance of his country's ability to do so.

10. None the less, because of the diversity of views ex-
pressed in both the plenary meetings and the General
Committee, if a majority of delegations expressed a prefer-
ence for Geneva as the venue for the seventh session, his
delegation would be able to rally to their position.

11. The PRESIDENT noted that all delegations agreed
that, for practical reasons, it would be impossible to hold
the seventh session of the Conference in New York.

12. Mr. YANKOV (Bulgaria) said that a distinction had
to be made between practical and political considerations
when determining the venue for the seventh session. All
delegations agreed that it would be impossible to hold the
session in New York and, as far as his delegation was
concerned, for practical reasons there could be no doubt
as to which of the three other proposed venues was most
suitable. Geneva offered all the necessary facilities for the
seventh session and his delegation, while it was extremely
grateful to Jamaica and Malta for their invitations, had
serious practical reservations as to the advisability of
holding the session in either of those countries. There was
no reason why those countries, or the groups to which
they belonged, should be offended by any reluctance to
take up their offer. The simple fact was that more dele-
gations had missions in Geneva than in either Jamaica or
Malta.

13. As far as political considerations were concerned, the
group of Latin American States should perhaps show
some restraint. Two sessions of the Conference had already
been held in Latin America and, no matter how great the
contribution of that group of countries had been to the
Conference, they should be prepared to consider invita-
tions from countries from other regional groups. Indeed,
no continent should claim a prominent role in the Con-
ference. Thus, from both the practical and the political
standpoint Geneva was the most appropriate venue for
the seventh session.

14. Mr. ENGO (United Republic of Cameroon) pointed
out that many of the African countries did not have a
mission in Geneva, Jamaica or Malta and that the argu-
ment put forward by the representative of Bulgaria was
therefore irrelevant. He had also been rather surprised by
that representative's admonition to the group of Latin



81st meeting—15 July 1977 13

American States and hoped that it did not imply a criticism
of Venezuela for having twice hosted the Conference. In
any case, if one applied the criterion of equitable geo-
graphical distribution of conferences, Geneva would be
the worst choice of venue. However, that was not the ap-
propriate criterion and he was aware that for many dele-
gations Geneva would be the most convenient choice.
15. It had been argued that there were both practical
and political difficulties involved in accepting the invita-
tions from Jamaica and Malta. Yet the representative of
Jamaica had already given assurances that his country
could offer all the necessary facilities and, as far as mis-
sions were concerned, it should be noted that less than a
quarter of the African countries had missions in Geneva.
As the group of African States included many of the least
developed and land-locked countries, there was obviously
some question of interest groups. Moreover, as the cost
of sending representatives from New York to Geneva
would be far greater than that of sending them from New
York to Jamaica, Governments would be forced to send
smaller delegations to Geneva than to Jamaica.
16. As far as political considerations were concerned, it
was established United Nations practice to encourage de-
veloping countries to host conferences provided that they
had the necessary facilities. As the representative of
Jamaica had given the necessary assurances in that respect,
there could be no justification for rejecting the Jamaican
invitation.
17. Unfortunately, the invitation from Malta had come
a little too late. Moreover, in response to the Maltese rep-

resentative's argument that the seventh session should be
held on "neutral ground", he wished to assure that repre-
sentative that in opting for the Jamaican invitation his
delegation was not indicating a preference for Jamaica
with regard to certain other matters connected with the
Conference.

18. Mr. BAROODY (Saudi Arabia), speaking on a point
of order, suggested that in order to save time a vote should
be taken immediately on the venue for the seventh session
of the Conference. Alternatively, the President should
limit the number of speakers on that item so that due con-
sideration might be given to the date and duration of the
seventh session.

19. Mr. ATIGA (Libyan Arab Jamahiriya) said that,
like other members of the Arab group, his country fa-
voured the choice of Geneva for objective reasons. Geneva
offered all the necessary facilities for the seventh session
and its choice would obviate the need to choose between
invitations from two developing countries. It was proving
difficult to convince some delegations of the objectivity of
that approach, with the result that the question of venue
was now becoming a political issue. He appealed to all
delegations not to allow that question to become a source
of political conflict, forcing delegations to adopt extreme
positions according to their geographical or political affil-
iations, and called on all delegations to accept Geneva
as the venue for the seventh session.

The meeting rose at 1.20 p.m.


	Main Menu
	List of Documents
	How to use List of Documents

	Master File
	How to use Master File

	Other Materials
	I. Preface
	II. Document Symbols
	III. Full-text Search
	IV. Tables
	A. GA Resolutions
	B. Conference Sessions
	C. Documents by Session
	D. Contents by Volume
	E. Negotiating Texts
	F. Chronology - LOS



	Main: 


